64,553

IN THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
STATE OF FLORIDA

BRUNNER ENTERPRISES, INC.,  
a Delaware Corporation,  
  
Appellant,  
  
vs.  
  
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF  
THE STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,  
  
Appellee.

DOCKET NO, AR-337

**FILED**

NOV 22 1983

SID J. WHITE  
CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT ON  
ENTRY OF MANDATE OF THE  
CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MAY 16 4 53 PM '83  
RAYMOND E. ANDERSON  
CLERK  
FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS  
FIRST DISTRICT

FILED

C. GARY WILLIAMS and  
ROBERT S. HIGHTOWER of  
Ausley, McMullen, McGehee,  
**Carothers and Proctor**  
Post Office Box 391

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. JUDGMENT APPEALED.

This is an appeal from a Final Judgment on Entry of Mandate entered by the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit of Florida. Appellant Brunner Enterprises, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was the Plaintiff below. Appellee Department of Revenue was the Defendant below. The Appellant Brunner Enterprises, Inc. is referred to as "Appellant," "the taxpayer," "Brunner," "Brunner Enterprises," or by its corporate name. The Appellee Department of Revenue of the State of Florida is referred to as "Appellee" or "the Department." References to the record on appeal appear as TR. Vol. \_\_\_\_\_, P. \_\_\_\_\_

B. BRIEF SUMMARY

In January, 1979, a summary judgment was entered in this cause in favor of the taxpayer based on Count I of its Complaint and the case of Stan Musial & Biggie's, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 363 So.2d 375 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (subsequently reversed at 387 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1980)). TR. Vol. 11, P. 277. Following an appeal by the Department to this Court and certification of two questions to the Florida Supreme Court, the summary judgment in favor of taxpayer was quashed and the trial court was ordered to conduct further proceedings in accordance with the Florida Supreme Court's decision of November 20, 1980, Department of Revenue v. Brunner Enterprises, Inc., 390 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1980). In that decision, the Supreme Court answered the two questions certified to it relating to inclusion of certain income in Brunner's tax base. However, the Florida Supreme Court did not decide whether

application of the three-factor formula apportionment method to Brunner's income was constitutional.

In December, 1982, over **two** years after entry of the Supreme Court's Brunner decision, the Department filed its Motion to Enforce the Mandate in this cause, TR. Vol. III, P. 329-337. A hearing on issues of law was held and in February, 1983, the trial court ruled in favor of the Department as a matter of law, entered its Final Judgment on Entry of Mandate, and upheld the Department's corporate income tax assessment of \$105,445.00 against Brunner. In its Final Judgment, the trial court **said it was** of the opinion that the Florida Supreme Court in its decision of November 20, 1980, had decided all issues against the taxpayer, and thus, nothing was left for the trial court to do but to enforce the mandate, enter final judgment in favor of the Department, and uphold the Department's corporate income tax assessment. TR, Vol. II, P. 374-381.

If the trial court's final judgment is affirmed, no court will have heard the taxpayer's evidence, consisting of affidavits, deposition testimony, and related documents, which supports Brunner's position that the Illinois-generated income should be **ex-**cluded from Brunner's tax base and that application of three-factor formula apportionment to this income is unconstitutional.

#### C. COMPLETE CASE STATEMENT

This action was commenced on November 9, 1976, when the **tax-**payer filed its Complaint and Application for Permanent Injunction in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit in and for Leon County, Florida. TR. Vol I, P. 1-123. The Department

filed an Answer, TR. Vol. I, P. 125-132, and thereafter certain Orders and Stipulations **were** entered relating to various questions. TR. Vol. I, P. 133-140. The taxpayer filed a Motion for Summary Judgment in November 1978, TR. Vol. 11, P. 141-142, and supporting Affidavits and two depositions were filed. TR. Vol. 11, P. 143-234. The depositions were taken at the instance of the Department. A hearing was held on the taxpayer's Motion for Summary Judgment and the Court heard argument with regard to Count I of the Complaint. Constitutional arguments were not made. On January 19, 1979, the trial **court** entered its Final Summary Judgment in **favor** of the taxpayer. TR. Vol. II, P. 277. The Department filed a Notice of **Appeal** to the **District** Court of Appeal, First District, and Directions to the Clerk **for** the record on appeal, TR. Vol II, P. 278-280.

On September 7, 1979, this Court entered its per curiam opinion affirming the Summary Judgment granted to taxpayer, **but also** certifying to the Florida Supreme Court as a matter of great public interest the following questions:

Is the gain from an out-of-state sale of stock held by a foreign corporation doing business in Florida **taxable** under the Florida Corporate Income **Tax** Code, and if so, what method of computation should **be** used?

On October 2, 1979, the Department filed a notice invoking the certiorari jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court to review the Opinion of this Court. On November 20, 1980, the Florida Supreme Court quashed the decision of this Court and remanded the case for further proceedings. Subsequently, the Florida Supreme Court submitted its mandate to this Court. On December 17, 1980,

this Court entered its **Order** on Mandate to the Circuit Court. TR. Vol. III, P. 285-292.

On June 29, 1982, the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion in ASARCO, Inc. v. Idaho State Tax Commission, \_\_\_U.S.\_\_\_\_, 102 S.Ct. 3103, 73 L.Ed.2d 787 (1982), which **decision** governs the issues in this cause. On August 4, 1982, the taxpayer filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, TR. Vol 111, P. 305-319, based on the ASARCO decision. On December 16, 1982, over **two** years after the Florida Supreme Court's initial decision in this cause, the Department filed a Motion to Enforce the Mandate, TR. Vol. III, P. 329-337 and a Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Motion **for** Summary Judgment, TR. Vol. III, P. 320-328. Supporting and opposing memoranda were filed, TR. Vol. 111, P. 338-373. On December 28, 1982, the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit of Florida, the Honorable John A. Rudd, Sr., presiding, heard the pending motions and the legal issues. TR. Vol III, P. 385-421.

On February 8, 1983, the trial court entered its Final Judgment on Entry of Mandate in favor of the Department. TR. Vol. 111, P. 374-381. The trial court's decision was based on its view that the Florida Supreme **Court's** 1980 decision "mandated a decision in favor of the [Department]." TR. Vol. 111, P. 379. Thereafter, the taxpayer filed a timely Notice of **Appeal** to this Court, its Designation to Reporter, and Directions to the Clerk **for** the record on appeal, TR. Vol. III, P. 382-384. On April 8, 1983, the transcript of the Proceedings of **December** 28, 1982, were filed. TR. Vol. III, P. 385-421.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. FACTUAL OUTLINE

This case involves the Department's attempt to subject to corporate income taxation in Florida over \$3,000,000.00 of income earned by Brunner on intangible personal property owned and held in the State of Illinois.

The intangible property generating this income had no connection or nexus with Florida. Nonetheless, the Department seeks to include over \$3,000,000.00 of such income in Brunner's Florida tax base and to subject over 70% of it (69.8% for fiscal year ending 9/30/73 and 76.1% for fiscal year ending 9/30/74) to Florida corporate income tax by use of formulary apportionment. The Department's proposed action would result in over \$2,100,000.00 of Brunner's Illinois-generated income being subject to Florida's 5% corporate income levy, producing a tax of \$105,445.00

The property generating this Illinois income consisted of sales proceeds from disposition of a 95% stock interest in the Suburban Trust and Savings Bank (hereinafter the "Bank") of Oak Park, Illinois (which Brunner was required to dispose of by order of the Comptroller of the Currency), interest from state and municipal obligations, interest on other obligations and dividends on stock. At all times relevant to this action, Brunner's commercial domicile was Illinois and all its intangible property was held in Illinois. Brunner's only connection with Florida during the period at issue was its registration to do business in the state and its ownership and operation of citrus groves in several Florida counties.

Brunner disclosed the above-mentioned intangibles income to the Department in its Florida returns for fiscal years ending 9/30/73 and 9/30/74. Since the entire amount of such income was allocated to Illinois on Brunner's Illinois tax returns, the taxpayer subtracted the amount from income subject to corporate tax in Florida. The Department asserted a deficiency in corporate income tax against Brunner in the amount of \$126,715.00 for fiscal years ending 9/30/73 and 9/30/74, which through informal conference was reduced to \$105,445.00 (\$86,070.00 and \$19,375.00 for fiscal years ending 9/30/73 and 9/30/74, respectively) This asserted tax was based on (1) including the Illinois-generated intangibles income in Brunner's "tax base" for Florida purposes and (2) allocating the great majority of such income to Florida (69.8% for fiscal year ending 9/30/73 and 76.1% far fiscal year ending 9/30/74) by use of the three-factor formula method of apportionment. Brunner filed suit to contest this proposed assessment as arbitrary, unreasonable, and unconstitutional.

B. SUPPORTING FACTS AND TRANSCRIPT REFERENCES.

At all times material to this action, Brunner Enterprises, Inc. was a Delaware corporation having its principal place of business and commercial domicile in Illinois. Brunner was authorized to do business in Florida. TR. Vol I, P. 136; TR. Vol. 11, P. 147. It was active only in the states of Illinois and Florida. TR. Vol. 11, P. 225. Fred J. Brunner was the President, a Director, and the principal shareholder of Brunner Enterprises, Inc. Brunner employed a fiscal year ending on September 30. TR. Vol 11, P. 147. The primary years in question in this action are

fiscal years ending 9/30/73 and 9/30/74. The Department sought a deficiency for such **years** in the amount of \$126,715, TR. Vol. I, P. 4, P, 57, which was subsequently reduced to \$105,445. TR. Vol I, P, 109.

Brunner Enterprises, Inc. was originally incorporated in October, 1957 and at **all** times prior to December, 1971, it was primarily engaged in manufacturing rock bits in Illinois. Brunner Enterprises began its activity in Florida in 1962 when it bought an orange grove in Broward County. Thereafter the corporation purchased other citrus properties which were owned by Brunner or its subsidiaries. TR. Vol. II, P. 148-150.

Beginning in April, 1963, and ending in July, 1972, Brunner Enterprises acquired a 95% stock interest in the Bank at a cost of \$3,273,033.68. On February 1, 1973, Brunner Enterprises **sold** its interest in the Bank on order of the Comptroller of the Currency for \$6,056,750, realizing a capital gain of \$2,783,716.32. TR. Vol. II, P. 150-152.

The Bank had no connection with Florida. No funds from the Florida citrus operations were used to purchase the Illinois Bank stock. TR, Vol. 11, P. 221-222. Further, the Bank did not finance or loan any funds to the Florida grove operation. The **Bank** also **had** separate **legal** counsel from that **employed** by the Florida citrus operation. TR. Vol. 11, P. 222. Finally, the Bank never held any mortgages on the Florida orange grove properties. TR. Vol. 11, P. 152.

At all times material to this action, Brunner owned intangible assets from which it derived interest, dividends, and

occasionally capital gains. These intangibles had no connection with Florida. From the date of their acquisition, **all** activities relating to such intangibles occurred in Illinois, including their physical presence, control over them, receipt of dividend and interest income from such intangibles, and all other ownership attributes and obligations. TR. Vol. 11, P. 152.

Brunner Enterprises sold its rock bit manufacturing assets to Brunner and Lay, Inc. in December, 1971. TR. Vol. 11, P. 150. Subsequent to its disposition of the manufacturing assets and stock in the Bank, the activities of Brunner in the State of Illinois have consisted primarily of providing accounting services to several related companies and managing the proceeds derived from sale of the manufacturing assets and the Bank stock. TR. Vol. 11, P. 152.

The Florida citrus operation **was** managed by Travis Murphy, **who** resided in Florida and had his **office** in Indiantown, Florida. Mr. Murphy had complete control over **the** groves' operations and had authority to make all noncapital expenditures, to purchase supplies, to hire and fire personnel, to set wage scales, to set prices **for** the citrus crop, and to determine to whom the crop was sold. TR. Vol. 11, P. 149. Mr. Murphy established production goals and planned and implemented programs designed to meet these goals. TR. Vol. 11, P. 144. Fred Brunner exercised only occasional review over the management and control of the Florida operation. TR. Vol. 11, P. 212-216, 227, 228.

From the inception of the Florida citrus operation in **1963**, all requisite accounting work **for** the Florida groves has been

performed by Florida accountants and bookkeepers. They have handled all grove-related payables, receivables and payroll. Further, all regular day-to-day accounting journal entries were made in Florida, and all monthly budget and nonbudget reports were prepared in Florida. TR. Vol. 11, P. 148. The only role of the Illinois office of Brunner in the Florida citrus operation was to receive and review budget and non-budget reports for the Florida operation at the end of each month. Additionally, an annual audit was conducted and corporate tax returns were prepared by a CPA firm in Chicago. TR. Vol 11, P. 149.

There was no joint advertising program by Brunner Enterprise companies or subsidiaries. There were no joint efforts with regard to legal services. Furthermore, there were no joint efforts for exchanges of personnel and no joint effort in regard to purchasing of supplies. TR. Vol. II, p. 225, 226. The only joint effort among the Brunner Enterprise companies was having one Illinois CPA firm prepare a Federal Income Tax return. TR. Vol. 11, P. 226.

Brunner Enterprises recognized the \$2,783,716.32 long-term capital gain on sales of the Bank stock in its Federal Income Tax return for fiscal year ending September 30, 1973. TR. Vol. 31, P. 150. Pursuant to Illinois law, such gain was totally allocated to Illinois for tax purposes. During fiscal years ending 9/30/73 and 9/30/74, Brunner realized dividend income and interest from certain exempt and nonexempt obligations. This income was likewise allocated to Illinois. In computing its Florida corporate income tax base for the fiscal years ending 9/30/73 and 9/30/74, Brunner

subtracted such amounts from its Federal taxable income. TR. Vol. 11, P. 136-138. The Department assessed a deficiency against Brunner Enterprises in the amount of \$105,445.00, and Brunner filed its Complaint asserting that it owed no additional tax. TR. Vol. I, P. 1-123.

## ARGUMENT

### A. INTRODUCTION

In the Florida Supreme Court's decision, Department of Revenue v. Brunner Enterprises, Inc., 390 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1980), the Court decided that: (1) gain from an out-of-state sale of stock may be taxable under the Florida Corporate Income Tax Code, and (2) that the method of computation used was to include the stock sale gain in the tax **base** as described in Section 220.12-.13, Florida Statutes (1973). The Supreme Court did not answer the question as to whether or not the three-factor formula method of apportionment (as prescribed by Sections 214.71 and 220.15, Florida Statutes (1973)) was constitutionally applied to Brunner's out-of-state intangibles income (See 390 So.2d 713, at 715). The recent United States Supreme Court decision of ASARCO, Inc. v. Idaho State Tax Commission, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 102 S.Ct. 3103, 73 L.Ed.2d 787 (1982), held that out-of-state income generated from intangibles is improperly included in a corporation's tax base and that the three-factor formula method of apportionment may normally not be applied to such income absent the existence of a unitary business.

The **issues** in this appeal are:

- (1) Whether the law of the case established by the Florida Supreme Court as to the inclusion in tax base issue (pursuant to Sections 220.12-.13, Florida Statutes (1973)), should **be** changed as a result of ASARCO; and
- (2) Whether the trial court erred in permitting the Department to apply the three-factor formula method of apportionment to Brunner's out-of-state intangibles income (a) without any **proof** of or findings relating to the existence of a unitary business as is required by ASARCO, and (b) without giving Brunner an opportunity to

present facts, testimony and documents justifying a deviation from use of the three-factor formula method of apportionment.

ASARCO presents such a clear statement of the law applicable to this cause that the "law of the case" should be changed and Brunner's out-of-state intangibles income should not be included in its "tax base." As such, this Court should reverse the **Final** Judgment on Entry of Mandate, and should direct that the trial court enter a Final Judgment in favor of the taxpayer based on ASARCO.

However, even if it is determined that the law of the case requires inclusion of the out-of-state income in Brunner's tax base pursuant to Section 220.12-.13, Florida Statutes, the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Brunner, 390 So.2d at 715, requires that the trial court give the taxpayer an opportunity to offer evidence justifying a deviation from use of the three-factor formula method of apportionment. Further, ASARCO requires that such out-of-state intangibles income not be made subject to the three-factor formula method of apportionment absent a clear and convincing showing of the existence of a unitary business. Brunner has been given no opportunity to show that the facts justify a deviation from use of the three-factor method of apportionment, either under the ASARCO standard or under the clear language of the Florida Supreme Court's Brunner decision. As such, the trial court has improperly entered a final judgment **for** the Defendant. This Court should reverse the Final Judgment on Entry of Mandate, and should direct the trial court to determine the constitutionality of applying the three-factor formula method of apportionment

to Brunner based on the law as set forth in ASARCO.

B. INCLUSION OF BRUNNER  
ENTERPRISES' OUT-OF-STATE  
GENERATED INTANGIBLES INCOME IN  
ITS TAX BASE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL  
AS A VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS  
CLAUSE.

1. TAX BASE ISSUE

Inclusion of Brunner Enterprises' Illinois income **from** interest, dividends, and sale of the Bank stock in its Florida tax base is unconstitutional. A review of the recent United States Supreme Court case of ASARCO, Inc. v. Idaho State Tax Commission, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 102 S.Ct. 3103, 73 L.Ed.2d 787 (1982), makes it clear that such income must be excluded from Brunner's tax base. The trial court refused to apply ASARCO to this cause though it clearly is on point because that trial court felt bound by the mandate of this appellate court which applied the Supreme Court decision in Department of Revenue v. Brunner Enterprises, Inc., 390 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1980), as the law of the **case**. Brunner acknowledges that the trial court is bound **by** a mandate, but it does not concede that the issues of this case were finally resolved by the prior Florida Supreme Court decision. In this **appeal** Brunner **prays** that this Court will take jurisdiction, review this case in light of ASARCO, and take whatever action the Court finds necessary to **apply** ASARCO as is clearly required to do equity and justice.

2. PRIOR DECISION OF FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

In November, 1980, the Florida Supreme Court issued its

decision in Brunner Enterprises, supra. The Supreme Court held that: (1) gain from an out-of-state sale of **stock** may be taxable under the Florida Corporate Income Tax Code, and (2) that the method of computation to be used was to include the stock sale gain in the tax base as described in Section 220.12-.13, Florida Statutes (1973). The decision was entered on November 20, 1980, that **Court's** mandate was entered shortly thereafter, and on December 17, 1980, this Court's mandate was entered, which directed that further proceedings be had in accordance with the Florida Supreme Court's decision. The Department took no action to enforce the mandate until December 1982, over two years after the decision was rendered. The Department, however, responded to interrogatories and filed other pleadings during this two year hiatus.

### 3. MANDATE

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