64,553

IN THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

BRUNNER ENTERPRISES, INC., a Delaware Corporation,

Appellant,

vs .

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellee,

FILED
CASE NO. AR-337

NOV 22 393

CLERK SUPREME COURT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOSEPH C. MELLICHAMP, III Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-2142

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from a Final Judgment on Entry of
Mandate entered by the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial
Circuit of Florida. Appellant, Brunner Enterprises, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation, was the Plaintiff below. Appellee,
Department of Revenue, was the Defendant below. The Appellant,
Brunner Enterprises, Inc., is referred to as "Appellant,"
"the taxpayer," "Brunner," "Brunner Enterprises," or by its
corporate name. The Appellee, Department of Revenue of the
State of Florida, is referred to as "Appellee" or "the
Department." References to the record on appeal appear as
"R-..." References to the Appendix attached hereto will
appear as "A-."

The Appellee must disagree with the Appellant's recital of the facts which are relevant to the issue before this Court..

This suit was originally brought in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Leon County, on November 9, 1976, to challenge the imposition by the Department of certain Florida corporate income taxes on the Appellant. An answer was filed by the Department. The case was stayed pending ultimate determination of jurisdiction. An order and certain stipulations relating to the question of jurisdiction and exhaustion of administrative remedies were filed. On November 9, 1978, Brunner Enterprises filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Thereafter, on November 25, 1978, it

filed two affidavits, one by Travis Murphy, and one by Fred J. Brunner, in support of its motion. Depositions of Travis Murphy and Fred J. Brunner were taken at the request of the Department.

Brunner filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which was heard and the result was a final summary judgment rendered by the Honorable Charles Miner, Circuit Judge, in favor of Brunner Enterprises, on January 19, 1979. The Department of Revenue filed a timely notice of appeal invoking the jurisdiction of the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida, on February 16, 1979.

This Court affirmed the decision of the Circuit Court (A-1-2). The Department filed its Notice of Certiorari in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District, on October 2, 1979, invoking the jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court under Art. V, §3(b)3, Constitution of Florida, because of the question certified by the First District to be of great public interest.

This Court's decision and trial court's decision were reviewed by the Supreme Court of Florida by certiorari proceedings and said decision and judgment were quashed and remanded. (A-9-11).

The mandate of the Supreme Court was filed with the District Court of Appeal, First District, and the District Court of Appeal, First District, entered an Order on Mandate on December 17, 1980. (A-13,14)

Then, on August 4, 1982, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, to which the Defendants responded on December 15, 1982, by filing a Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and a Motion to Enforce the Mandate.

The trial court heard, after notice, all of the motions and entered the Final Judgment on Entry of Mandate (A-14-22), which the Appellant seeks to have this Court review.

ISSUES PRESENTED

Ι

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN ADHERING TO THE MANDATE AND DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT AND THIS COURT IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

II

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN ADHERING TO THE MANDATE AND DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT AND THIS COURT IN ENTERING THE FINAL JUDGMENT ON ENTRY OF MANDATE.

[Appellant's Issues A, B and C are addressed by Appellee's Issues I and II]

[Both Issues of the Appellee will be discussed together because of their interrelationship]

ARGUMENT

Before beginning the argument in this case, it is important that this Court remember that all the Appellant is appealing is the trial court's adherence to this Court's mandate.

The Appellant continues to ignore the fact that the facts and issues of law which the Appellant is attempting to argue have already been before this Court and the Florida Supreme Court in the previous appeal of this matter.

It is submitted by the Appellee that the facts of this case concerning the question of whether the Appellant operated two separate and distinct businesses-the active operation of Florida orange groves and the management of assets in Illinois which produced the income in question-is irrelevant. The facts involving the Appellant's business operations were before the Supreme Court of Florida and presumably were taken into account in reaching its decision that the income in question must be included in the Appellant's tax base and that the Appellant should not be allowed the use of separate accounting under Sec. 214.73, F.S., to apportion its tax base to Florida instead of the normal three-factor apportionment method. The Supreme Court, despite the possibility that Brunner Enterprises operated two separate businesses, held that the income in question must be included in the Appellant's tax base and that the three-factor apportionment method should be applied to the Appellant's tax base to determine the amount of its income subject to Florida tax. It is, therefore, respectfully submitted that the question of whether the Appellant operated two separate and distinct businesses is irrelevant to the proper resolution of this matter.

The only issue, properly before this Court, is whether or not the trial court had the authority to grant the Appellant's post mandate Motion for Summary Judgment, or was the trial court required to enter judgment for the Appellee as directed by this Court's mandate. Stated another way, the issue is whether the trial court was correct in adhering to the mandate and decision of the Florida Supreme Court and this Court by entering judgment for the Appellee.

It goes without question that:

When a case has been once decided by this court on appeal, and remanded to the circuit court, whatever was before this court, and disposed of by its decree, is considered as finally settled. The circuit court is bound by the decree as the law of the case, and must carry it into execution according to the mandate. That court cannot vary it, or examine it for any other purpose than execution; or give any other or further relief; or review it, even for apparent error, upon any matter decided on appeal; or intermeddle with it, further than to settle as much as has been remanded.

Rinker Materials Corp. v. Holloway Materials Corp., 175 So.2d 564, 565 (2 DCA 1965), cert. den. 180 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1965);

King v. L&N Investors, Inc., 136 So.2d 671 (3 DCA 1962); Petition of Vermeulen, 122 So.2d 318 (1 DCA 1960).

The judgment and mandate of this Court in this case could not be modified except upon permission of this Court, <u>Jefferson Nat. Bank v. Metro Dade County</u>, 285 So.2d 445 (3 DCA 1973); <u>State v. Holt</u>, 117 So.2d 428 (3 DCA 1960), and no such permission was sought.

The Appellant contends that the inclusion of the dividends, interest and gains on the sale of stock which the Appellant is attempting to tax in its tax base is unconstitutional based upon the United States Supreme Court decision of ASARCO, Inc. v. Idaho State Tax Comm, __U.S.__, 102 S.Ct. 3103, 73 L.Ed.2d 787 (1982).

Appellant originally filed suit in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Leon County, on November 9, 1976. Among the Counts raised by Appellant was the inclusion of the income in question in its adjusted federal income pursuant to Sec. 220.13, F.S. On January 19, 1979, the Circuit Court rendered a Final Summary Judgment in favor of Appellant, stating in pertinent part: as follows:

The law to be applied in this case is most succinctly set forth in Stan Musial & Biggies, Inc., Petitioner.
vs. State of Florida, Department of Revenue, Respondent, Case No. II-391, as cited by the First District Court of Appeal on September 25, 1978.
Applying such law to the undisputed facts in this case, it is hereby ORDERED and ADJUDGED the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment is granted.

The Department of Revenue filed a timely notice of appeal invoking the jurisdiction of this Court. This Court affirmed the decision of the Circuit Court and certified the following question to the Supreme Court of Florida:

Is the gain from an out-of-state sale of stock held by a foreign [sic] corporation doing business in Florida taxable under the Florida Corporation Income Tax Code, and if so, what method of computation should be used?

The Department filed its notice of certiorari in this Court invoking the jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court under Art. V, §3(b)3, Constitution of Florida, because of the question certified by this Court to be of great public interest. The decision and judgment of this Court were reviewed by the Supreme Court of Florida by certiorari proceedings and said decision and judgment were quashed and remanded. In answer to the first part of the question certified by this Court, the Supreme Court of Florida stated the following:

As noted by the district court of appeal, the first portion of the question, relating to the taxability of the gain, was certified to this Court in Roeer Dean Enterprises, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 371 So.2d 101 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). We have addressed the issue and answered the question in the affirmative:

[W]e hold that the gain from an out-of-state sale of stock held by a foreign corporation doing business in Florida may be taxable under the Florida Corporate Income Tax Code.

DOR V. Brunner Enterprises, Inc.. 390 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1980).

The mandate of the Supreme Court was filed with this

Court and this Court entered an Order on Mandate on December 17,

1980. (A-13)

On August 4, 1982, the Appellant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment in the Circuit Court. The Appellee filed a Motion to Strike the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and requested compliance with this Court's Order on Mandate.

In Appellant's original Complaint, the Appellant argued that the income in question should not be included in its adjusted federal income (the "tax base"), which is apportioned to Florida. See Count: II of Plaintiff's Complaint. The Supreme Court of Florida In Brunner, supra, specifically held that the income in question was includible in the Appellant's tax base and therefore was subject to the Florida corporate income tax. Pursuant to the Supreme Court of Florida's opinion and judgment, this Court issued its Order on Mandate adopting as its opinion and judgment the opinion and judgment of the Supreme Court of Florida. (A-14)

The Supreme Court of Florida and this Court have, therefore, disposed of Appellant's argument that the income in question is properly includible in Appellant's tax base to be apportioned to Florida.

The Circuit Court, in its Final Judgment on Entry of Mandate, states the following:

Plaintiff admits that one of the two issues involved in this case has finally been resolved by the Supreme Court of Florida. That issue is whether the income which the Defendant is attempting to tax must be included in the tax based of the Plaintiff. As stated by Plaintiff, Plaintiff 'acknowledges that under the mandate the trial court must follow the Supreme Court's decision requiring inclusion of the out-of-state gain from the sale of the bank stock in the tax base, i.e., the federal taxable income, under \$5220.12 and 220.13, Fla. Stat. (1973).' (e.s.)

The Appellant did in fact acknowledge that the Circuit Court must follow the Supreme Court's decision requiring inclusion of the income in question in the Appellant's tax base pursuant to the mandate. The Appellant, however, in its Initial Brief now states that it:

Acknowledges that the trial court is bound by a mandate, but it does not concede that the issues of this case were finally resolved by the prior Florida Supreme Court decision. In this appeal Brunner prays that this Court will take jurisdiction, review this case in light of ASARCO, and take whatever action the Court finds necessary to apply ASARCO as is clearly required to do equity and justice. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 13)

Despite this statement, the Appellant has in fact already acknowledged, as recognized by the Circuit Court, that the issue of whether the income in question may be included in the Appellant's tax base has been finally resolved by the Supreme Court of Florida. Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment of the Florida Supreme Court, when it issued mandate, is the final judgment and compliance therewith

by the Circuit Court was a purely ministerial act. Modine Mgf. Co. v. ADC Radiators, Inc., 367 So.2d 232 (3d DCA 1979); and Jones v. Knuck, 388 So.2d 328 (3d DCA 1980).

The Appellant acknowledges that the Florida Supreme Court decided two issues in its decision. The Appellant contends, however, that the two issues decided by the Florida Supreme Court were as follows:

(1) that gain from an out-of-state sale of stock could be taxable under the Florida Corporate Income Tax Code, and
(2) that the method of computation to be used was to include the stock sale gain in the tax base. (P.26, Initial Brief of Appellant)

The Appellant then contends that the "Court did not, however, decide that the Department properly applied the three-factor formula method of apportionment to Brunner's income."

It is respectfully submitted, and the Circuit Court so held, that the issue of the proper method of apportionment has in fact been finally resolved by the Supreme Court of Florida. The question of the proper method of apportionment was clearly before the Supreme Court of Florida. As stated by the Florida Supreme Court, this Court certified the following question to it:

Is the gain from an out-of-state sale of stock held by a foreigh [sic] corporation doing business in Florida taxable under the Florida Corporation Income Tax

Code, and if so, what method of computation should be used.

390 So.2d at 714.

In addressing the second part of the question certified by this Court to the Florida Supreme Court (the proper method of apportionment) the Supreme Court of Florida held as follows:

The method of computation under the Florida Corporation Income Tax Code used to tax the gain from an out-of-state sale of stock by a foreign corporation doing business in Florida should include the gain in the tax base described in sections 220.12.13, Florida Statutes (1973).

The decision of the District Court of Appeal is quashed, and the cause is remanded with instructions to reverse the judgment of the trial court and further remand for proceedings consistent with our opinion in Roger Dean Enterprises. Inc... v. Department of Revenue, supra, as well as the views expressed in the instant opinion. (e.s.)

390 So. 2d at 715,

Based upon the foregoing, it is clear that the Supreme Court of Florida resolved any question as to the proper method of apportionment based upon its decision in Roger Dean Enterprises, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 387 So.2d 358 (Fla. 1980). In Roger Dean, the Supreme Court of Florida stated the following with regard to the proper method of apportionment:

There is a very strong presumption in favor of normal three-factor

apportionment and against the applicability of the relief provisions.

Departures from the basic formula should be avoided except where reasonableness requires. . . . The relief provisions applicable to apportionment should not be used to remove an out-of-state stock sale made by a foreign chartered corporation subject to its income tax from the tax base. . .

Section 214.73, Florida Statutes (1974), gives the Department of Revenue discretion to alter the apportionment formula in very rare instances, but does not vest any discretion in the Department to modify federal taxable income [the tax base]. (e.s.)

387 So. 2d at *363*

In its original Complaint the Appellant argued that it should be allowed the use of separate accounting under Sec. 214.73, F.S., to apportion its tax base to Florida instead of the normal three-factor apportionment method. The effect of allowing separate accounting instead of the normal three-factor apportionment method in this case would be to exclude the income in question from its tax base. Such a result was recognized and disapproved of by the Supreme Court of Florida in its decision in Roger Dean. It therefore appears that the Supreme Court of Florida's answer to the question certified by this Court as to the proper method of apportionment in this case that "the method of computation under the Florida Corporate Income Tax Code used to tax the gain from an out-of-state sale of stock by a foreign corporation doing business in Florida should include the gain in the tax base," (e.s.),

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